ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING MS. YOUNG, WHO DID NOT OWE 
A DEBT TO EOS CCA BUT VIAS CALLED SEVENTY ~THREE TIMES TO 
COLLECT A DEBT IS NOT A CONSUMER AND THEREFORE NOT 
PROTECTED UNDER THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSUMER CREDIT AND 
PROTECTION ACT. 

2. 	 THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING A "CONSUMER" TO OWE 
THE PARTICULAR DEBT AT ISSUE WHICH IS NOT A REQUIREMENT 
UNDER THE WVCCPA. 

3. 	 THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO 
EVIDENCE THAT PLAINTIFF EVER SPOKE WITH DEFENDANT WHEN 
THERE IS A RECORDING OF A CONVERSATION BETWEEN THE TWO. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Respondent, EOS CCA A.K.A. Collecto, Inc. (hereinafter "EOS" or "Respondent"), 

began placing calls to the Petitioner at her home telephone in or about the summer of2013. CA.R. 

29-31) The Respondent admits, through the testimony of their corporate representative, that the 

Petitioner, Ms. Young, did not owe the debt they were collecting for, and the Respondent's 

corporate representative also admits they called Ms. Young's telephone number seventy-three 

times on this debt. CA.R. 138, 139, 141). Ms. Young testified as to her conversation upon 

answering one ofRespondent's phone calls; she asked them to call her lawyer's office. CA.R. 

131-132). The Respondent's corporate representative also admits that the original consumer that 

owed the AT&T Mobility bill that the Respondent was collecting for did not provide the 

Respondent with Ms. Young's telephone number. CA.R. 145-146). The Respondent stated they 

obtained Ms. Young's telephone number through a Lexis-Nexis "skip-trace." CA.R. 141). The 

Respondent would not disclose who the debtor they were attempting to dun from is, but it was 

not Ms. Young or her husband because neither of them ever had an AT&T Mobility account. 



(A.R. 141,29-34). However, it was likely someone with the same or similar sounding name as 

Ms. Young's husband, James Young. Ms. Young and her husband are in their seventies. (A.R. 

28). Ms. Young has had multiple strokes and Mr. Young suffers from dementia. (A.R. 28 -29). 

Ms. Y olmg mistakenly believed EOS \".~!:: calling to collect on a Ban..l( ofAmerica credit card 

she owed, and hired the undersigned counsel to consider bankruptcy because she believed she 

owed the money EOS was attempting to collect from her. (A.R. 30-32). Ms. Young had reason to 

be concerned as EOS had called Ms. Young seventy-three times, and on one call had, in which 

Ms. Young spoke with EOS, it seemed they asked for someone who could have been her 

husband, James Young. (A.R. 91, 101). On the recording of the call, the debt collector for the 

Respondent asked if"Jymps" was there. (A.R. 144). The Respondent's corporate representative 

was unsure if the name asked for by the debt collector was Jim or James. (/d.) Ms. Young's 

husband is James Young. (A.R 127). This debt collector did not care ifthey had the right person, 

they wanted Ms. Young to pay and were determined to dun her. Ms. Young contends she had an 

additional conversation with the Petitioner in which she asked them to direct all future calls to 

her attorney. The Respondent disputes that call took place, and that is a question of fact for a 

Jury. 

On or about November 4,2013, the Plaintiff filed a complaint against the Respondent in 

the Circuit Court ofKanawha County, a place where the Defendant does business, and she 

amended the complaint in January of2014. (A.R. 1- 8). The Amended Complaint alleged 

violations of several provisions of the West Virginia Consumer Credit and Protection Act 

("WVCCPA"), including W.Va. Code§ 46A-2-125; W.Va. Code§ 46A-2-125(d); W.Va. Code§ 

46A-2-128(e); and W.Va. Code§ 46A-2-127(a) and (c). 
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PROCEDURAL HISTORY 


The Complaint herein was filed on November 4,2013 and amended on January 22,2014. 

At the hearing on June 17,2015, the Circuit Court ordered that Defendant did not need to 

respond to written discovery iiled with the complaint a year betore until after Ms. Young gave 

her deposition. Ms. Young gave her deposition on November 17, 2015 and the Defendant 

provided written discovery on that date. The Discovery completion date on the scheduling order 

was listed as October 16,2015, and trial was set for February 1,2016. On or about December 11, 

2015, the Respondent filed a motion for summary judgement on the grounds that the Plaintiff 

was not a consumer under the WVCCP A. Ms. Young responded with a response to Respondent's 

motion and providing an affidavit showing she does, in fact, meet all the requirements of a 

"consumer" under the act. A hearing was held on the Defendant's motion for summary 

judgement on January 12,2016, and the Court granted the Defendant's motion for summary 

judgement on February 2, 2016 dismissing all claims by Ms. Young. The Petitioner filed her 

Notice of Appeal on February 11, 2016. The Petitioner hereby perfects her appeal. 

SUM~YOFARGUMENT 

A reasonable jury could conclude, based on the questions offact in the record, that the 

Respondent, when calling the Petitioner, seventy-three times over all AT&T mobility bill, they 

intended to collect a debt from the Petitioner. It may also be reasonable for Ms. Young, an 

elderly stroke victim, to assume that someone who calls her and her husband seventy-three times 

to collect a debt intended for Ms. Young, to pay that debt. It is certainly an allegation on the part 

of the collector that Ms. Young should pay the debt. Ms. Young is a consumer under the 

WVCCPA. There are two definitions of "consumer" in the WVCCPA. There is a general 
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definition ofconsumer contained in West Virginia Code §46A-l-102 (11)1 and a second 

definition in West Virginia Code §46A-2-122 (a).2 West Virginia Code §46A-2-122 (a) states in 

its first sentence that it applies to West Virginia Code §46A-2-123-129a of the WVCCPA.3 

Give!! that West Virginia Code §46A-2-122 (a) states it is the defInition section thet specifically 

applies to all of the WVCCPA counts in the Petitioner's complaint, West Virginia Code §46A-2

122 (a) is the correct statute to look to in determining the definition of"consumer" for purposes 

of this case. 

The Defendant argues in their motion for summary judgement that the two code sections 

above require Ms. Young to owe the specific debt the Respondent was specifically collecting for 

in order to be a consumer under the WVCCPA. However, nothing in the two definition sections 

above require a consumer to owe the specific debt the consumer was being contacted on. On the 

contrary, West Virginia Code §46A-2-122 (a) only requires the "consumer" to be a natural 

person who owes debt ofANY kind.4 There is further evidence in the WVCCPA that the 

legislature intended individuals such as Ms. Young to be protected from abusive debt collection 

practices. The first sentence of West Virginia Code §46A-2-125 states, "No debt collector shall 

unreasonably oppress or abuse any person in connection with the collection ofor attempt to 

collect any claim alleged to be due and owing by that person or another." West Virginia Code 

§46A-2-125 (emphasis added). Ms. Young submitted an affidavit averring that she is a natural 

1 "'Consumer' means a natural person who incurs debt pursuant to a consumer credit sale or a consumer 
loan, or debt or other obligations pursuant to a consumer lease." West Virginia Code §46A-I-I02 (11). 
2 "'Consumer' means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt." West Virginia 
Code §46A-2-122 (a) (emphasis added). 
3 "For the purposes ofthis section and sections one hundred twenty-three, one hundred twenty-four, one 
hundred twenty-five, one hundred twenty-six, one hundred twenty-seven, one hundred twenty-eight, one 
hundred twenty-nine, and one hundred twenty-nine-a ofthis article, the following terms shall have the 
following meanings ..." §46A-2-122 (a). 
4 See footnote 5, supra. 
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person and owes several consumer debts. Wherefore, Ms. Young is a consumer protected by the 

WVCCP A, and her claims must proceed. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Petitioner respectfully requests the opportunity to present oral argument in this case. 

Petitioner believes the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument given the 

extensive factual record that demonstrates that Circuit Court erred in granting summary judgment. 

Petitioner further believes a Rule 20 argument and published opinion are appropriate to allow this 

Court to give Circuit Courts guidance on the issue of the definition of "consumer" under the 

WVCCPA as there is a difference in the federal courts in interpreting the identical West Virginia 

definition of consumer in the WVCCPA and the federal definition in the Fair Debt Collection 

Practices Act (hereinafter "FDCP A"). The Petitioner notes that this issue is one of first impression 

with the WVCCPA. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. pt. 1, Painter v. 

Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Under Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of 

Civil Procedure, summary judgment is proper only where the moving party shows that there is 

no genuine issue as to any material fact and that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. "A 

party moving for summary judgment faces a well-established burden: 'A motion for summary 

judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried 

and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.' Syl. pt. 

3, Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. v. Federal Insur. Co. ofNew York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 

(1963)." Mallet v. Pickens, 206 W. Va. 145, 147,522 S.E.2d 436, 438 (1999). 
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"The circuit court's function at the summary judgment stage is not 'to weigh the evidence 

and determine the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial. ' 

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249, 106 S. Ct. 2505, 2511,91 L.Ed.2d 202, 213 

(1986). The Court, therefore, 'must dnn".' aI1Y permissible i!!ference from the ll!!derlying facts in 

the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.' Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. 

Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 106 S. Ct. 1348,89 L.Ed.2d 538 (1986); Masinter v. WEBCO 

Co., 164 W. Va. 241, 262 S.E.2d 433 (1980). Andrick, 187 W. Va. at 708, 421 S.E.2d at 249." 

Painter at 192, 758. 

"'Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a 

rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has 

failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to 

prove.' Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 106 S. Ct. 2548,91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986). 

Therefore, while the underlying facts and all inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to 

the nonmoving party, the nonmoving party must nonetheless offer some 'concrete evidence from 

which a reasonable ... [finder of fact] could return a verdict in ... [its] favor' or other 

'significant probative evidence tending to support the complaint.' Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 

256,106 S. Ct. 2514,91 L.Ed.2d at 217, quoting First Nat'l Banko!Arizona v. Cities Servo Co., 

391 U.S. 253,290,88 S. Ct. 1575, 1593,20 L.Ed.2d 569, 593 (1968); Crain V. Lightner, 178 W. 

Va. 765, 364 S.E.2d 778 (1987). It is through the lens of these principles that [the Court] 

examine[s] the circuit court's grant of summary judgment." Painter at 193, 759. 
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ARGUMENT 


I. 	 MS. YOUNG ALLEGEDLY O'VED THE DEBT TO RESPONDENT WHEN 
THE RESPONDENT CALLED MS. YOUNG SEVENTY-THREE TIMES TO 
COLLECT AND SHOULD BE PROTECTED BY THE WVCCPA 

With respect to the Plaintiff's claims West Virginia Code §46A-2-125. Oppression and 

abuse provides that: 

"No debt collector shall unreasonably oppress or abuse any person in 
connection with the collection of or attempt to collect any claim alleged to be 
due and owing by that person or another." 

West Virginia Code §46A-2-125 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court of Appeals has 

consistently held that the WVCCPA should be given liberal construction. State ex reI. McGraw 

v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, 194 W. Va. 770, 777, 461 S.E.2d 516, 523 (1995) ("The purpose 

of the CCP A is to protect consumers from unfair, illegal, and deceptive acts or practices by 

providing an avenue of relief for consumers who would otherwise have difficulty proving their 

case under a more traditional cause of action. As suggested by the court in State v. Custom Pools, 

150 Vt. 533, 536, 556 A.2d 72, 74 (1988), "it must be our primary objective to give meaning and 

effect to this legislative purpose." Where an act is clearly remedial in nature, we must construe 

the statute liberally so as to furnish and accomplish all the purposes intended.") West Virginia 

Code §46A-2-125 is plain and unambiguous. It allows for a claim where abusive debt collections 

are being made against a Plaintiff when the debt is owed by another. The Supreme Court of 

Appeals has held as recently as last month that, "A statutory provision which is clear and 

unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but 

will be given full force and effect." State ex reI. Biafore v. Tomblin, No. 16-0013,2016 W. Va. 

LEXIS 27, at *8 (Jan. 22, 2016). Nothing in West Virginia Code §46A-2-125 limits its 

7 



applicability to "consumers," and in fact, the statute quite clearly states "any person." The same 

is true for West Virginia Code §46A-2-125 - 128 which are all relevant to this case. 

The WVCCPA uses the term consumer when the term consumer is intended, and the use 

of the t(;nll "persuli" instead ifl We.)1 Vlrginlu Cudt; §46A-2-125 implies that this cod\; .5cction 

was intended to be apply more broadly to anyone who is a "person." Thus, a person can bring a 

cause of action under West Virginia Code §46A-2-125. The question then is one ofwhether or 

not the person has a remedy under West Virginia Code §46A-5-101 (1) which provides in part 

that: 

"Ifa creditor or debt collector has violated the provisions of this chapter applying 
to... any prohibited debt collection practice ... the consumer has a cause of action 
to recover: (a) Actual damages; and (b) a right in an action to recover from the 
person violating this chapter a penalty of$I,OOO per violation ... " 

There are two definitions of a "consumer" in the WVCCPA, and one definition applies to 

West Virginia Code §46A-2-123 - 129a and another definition applies to other portions ofthe 

act. The definition that applies to West Virginia Code §46A-2-123 -129a is located at West 

Virginia Code §46A-2-122 (a) where the act defines "consumer" as " ... any natural person 

obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt." 5 The other defmition of"consumer" contained 

in West Virginia Code §46A-I-102 (12) "General Definitions." This section defines consUmer as 

"'Consumer' means a natural person who incurs debt pursuant to a consumer credit sale or a 

consumer loan, or debt or other obligations pursuant to a consumer lease." West Virginia Code 

§46A-I-I02 (12). It is crucial to point out that NEITHER of these definitions require the 

S "For the purposes ofthis section and sections one hundred twenty-three, one hundred twenty-four, one 
hundred twenty-five, one hundred twenty-six, one hundred twenty-seven, one hundred twenty-eight, one 
hundred twenty-nine, and one hundred twenty-nine-a ofthis article, the following tenns shall have the 
following meanings ... (a) "Consumer" means any natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay 
any debt ... " West Virginia Code §46A-2-122. 
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"consumer" to owe the particular debt at issue in order to bring a cause of action under the 

WVCCP A, and that interpretation of the WVCCPA is contained nowhere in the act and would 

not be a liberal construction of the act. In fact, such a construction would cut off a natural person 

who was heing harassed cs de~cril-ed in West Vir~fnf{! Cod!! §46A-2-125 for the debt of another 

from any remedy under West Virginia Code §46A-5-101. It does not follow that the legislature 

drafted West Virginia Code §46A-2-125 with the language they used with the intention that it 

would have absolutely no remedy. Especially in circumstances where a reasonable jury could 

determine that the behavior of the Defendant creates a presumption that the creditor intended the 

non-debtor to pay by calling the non-debtor seventy-three times. In this circumstance, it is clear 

that Ms. Young now allegedly "owed" the debt as she was clearly being dunned for it. 

The Defendant's argument is based entirely on federal decisions interpreting the 

WVCCPA starting with Ballard v. Bank ofAmerica from the Southern District of West Virginia. 

See App. 47-55, Ballardv. Bank ofAmerica, NA., No. 2:12-2496,2013 WL 5963068, *9 

(S.D.W. Va. Nov. 7,2013). Here the Ballard Court found that a plaintiff must be a "consumer" 

under the WVCCPA in order to recover. Id. Following up on that in the Payne v. Green Tree 

Servicing decision, the Southern District of West Virginia Court found that 46A-2-125 was, in 

fact, a right without a statutory remedy, but that the Plaintiff could pursue a common law 

remedy. See App. 41-46; Payne v. Green Tree Servicing, No. 2:05-cv-00293, "Memorandum 

Opinion and Order" (S.D.W. Va. Mar. 7, 2006) (Goodwin, J.). The Court found that Plaintiff 

lacked standing under West Virginia Code §46A-5-101 because she did not owe the debt at issue. 

Id. The Court in Green Tree Servicing jumped to the conclusion that the definition sections in 

West Virginia Code §46A-l-102 (12) and West Virginia Code §46A-2-122 (a), without any 

9 




discussion or consideration of the fact the neither of the definitions in the \¥vCCPA, say that the 

party bringing the cause of action must owe the actual debt underlying the cause of action. 

The problem with the Green Tree Servicing and Ballard decisions is that they do not 

corr.port with interpretatiDns 0fthe same "cDnsumer" defi!1itio!1 included in the fl:!deral FDCPA 

in the federal courts. This creates a double standard. The FDCPA defines consumer as" ... any 

natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt." 15 USCS § 1692a (3). This 

language is identical to the language defining consumer in West Virginia Code §46A-2-122 (a). 

However, the federal courts, including the Eight Circuit, have interpreted this definition of 

consumer much more expansively than the federal courts have been willing to interpret the same 

language in the WVCCP A. The import is found in defining the terms "allegedly obligated to 

pay" found inside the definition of "Consumer" in both statutory schemes. The best examination 

of"allegedly obligated" is contained in the Dunham v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs. decision in 

which the Court reasoned: 

"PRA argues that because it erroneously contacted the wrong "James Dunham," it 
did not "allege" that Dunham was "obligated to pay any debt." In other words, 
PRA only alleged that the "James Dunham" who actually owes the payment 
obligation owed a debt, not the "James Dunham" who filed this lawsuit. Thus, 
PRA contends, Congress's decision to limit § 1692g's protections only to 
"consumers" reflects a congressional desire to withhold a cause of action for 
inadequate debt-validation from an individual like Dunham who a debt collector 
mistakenly contacts. Under PRA's interpretation of the Act, a person who has 
been abused by a debt collector's harassing tactics, which the FDCP A generally 
prohibits, could not invoke the protection of the FDCP A if the debt collector 
contacted the individual by mistake. This interpretation would read the phrase 
"allegedly obligated" to only apply to those who actually owe or owed the 
specific debt at issue, despite whether a debt collector asserted a person owes the 
specific debt. 

PRA's position too narrowly constricts the plain meaning of "alleged." Webster's 
Dictionary defines "allege" as meaning, among other things, "to state or declare as 
ifunder oath positively and assuredly but without offering complete proof" and 
"to assert, affirm, state, without proof or before proving (alleged that the suspect 
is a kidnapper[)]." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 55 (2002). 
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"Alleged" also means, inter alia, "questionably true or ofthe kind specified: 
SUPPOSED, SO-CALLED." Id. Finally, Black's Law Dictionary defines 
"alleged" as "1. Asserted to be true as described <alleged offenses>. 2. Accused 
but not yet tried <alleged murderer>." Black's Law Dictionary 74 (7th ed. 1999). 

We fmd that PRA alleged that Dunham owed a payment obligation. PRA 
concedes, as it must, that it contacted Dunham with letters demanding that a 
"James Dunh&.J.n" pay the payment obligation. IfDunhdlll paid the paYiJ.lCilt 
obligation, PRA would have likely found that "James Dunham" satisfied his 
payment obligation. Therefore, PRA alleged, albeit mistakenly, that Dunham 
owed the payment obligation. Simply put, a mistaken allegation is an allegation 
nonetheless. Thus, we read § 1692a(3) to include individuals who are mistakenly 
dunned by debt collectors."

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