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

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 


The Petitioner simply does not have standing to bring her claims against EOSCCA. First, 

she has not met her burden of showing that she is a "consumer" under the WVCCPA. It is 

important to note that the Petitioner filed this suit against EOSCCA pursuant to the civil remedy 

provisions of Article 5 of the WVCCPA for alleged violations of the consumer protection 

provisions of Article 2 of the WVCCP A. This is important because the consumer protection 

provisions of Article 2 have a different definition of "consumer' than do the civil remedy 

provisions of Article 5. Therefore, in order for the Petitioner to have standing to bring her 

WVCCPA suit against EOSCCA, she must satisfy both definitions of "consumer." The Petitioner 

failed to offer any evidence that she meets the definition of "consumer" applicable to the civil 

remedy provisions of Article 5. Accordingly, Petitioner's first assignment of error should be 

Second, the Petitioner wrongfully argues that a consumer has standing to sue under the 

WVCCPA even if they do not owe, nor are alleged to owe, the particular debt being collected. 

This argument is in direct conflict with the express language of the enforcement provisions of 

Article 2 of the WVCCPA, which require that the debt owed by the consumer be the same debt 

being collected by the debt collector. Therefore, Petitioner's second assignment of error must 

fail as a matter of law. 

2 Petitioner's First Assignment of Error is that the lower Court erred in finding that Petitioner was not a "consumer" 
because she did not owe a debt to EOSCCA. However, Petitioner's first argument does not address this point. 
Instead, Petitioner argues that Petitioner "allegedly" owed the debt to EOSCCA because her phone number was 
called 73 times. The Petitioner did not argue at the summary judgment hearing that she was a "consumer" because 
she was alleged to owe the debt to EOSCCA. At the hearing, she argued that she was a "consumer" because she 
owed debts generally to creditors other than EOSCCA. (Judge Order, page 4, Paragraph 17). Since Petitioner's first 
argument was not raised below and is not alleged to be an assignment of error in this appeal, EOSCCA will not 
address it on its merits. 
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Finally, it is irrelevant if the Petitioner and EOSCCA ever spoke on the telephone. The 

Petitioner has admitted that she did not owe a debt to EOSCCA, and that EOSCCA did not 

attempt to collect the debt in question from her. Based upon these facts, Petitioner does not have 

standing under the WVCCP A. The fact that the Petitioner and a representative of EOSCCA may 

have spoken on the telephone does not change this fact. Accordingly, even if the Court did make 

an error in its findings of fact, the error was harmless and EOSCCA is still entitled to summary 

judgment due to Petitioner's lack of standing. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

This case involves alleged assignments of error in the application of settled law as well as 

the resolution of a narrow issue of law. Therefore, this case is appropriate for Rule 19 Oral 

Argument and EOSCCA respectfully requests that this Court grant oral argument. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review. 

A party is entitled to summary judgment if the record shows there is "no genuine issue as 

to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter oflaw." W. Va. 

R. Civ. P. 56. The party opposing summary judgment must satisfy the burden of proof by 

offering more than a mere "scintilla of evidence," and must produce evidence sufficient for a 

reasonable jury to find in a nonmoving party's favor. Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. at 192,452 

S.E.2d at 758. A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. Syi. Pt. 1, 

Painter, 192 W. Va. 189, 452 S.E.2d 755. On appeal, this Court applies the same test that a 

circuit court must initially apply in determining whether summary judgment is appropriate. See 

Conrad v. ARA Szabo, 198 W. Va. 362, 480 S.E.2d 801 (1996). 
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B. 	 The Petitioner Lacks Standing to Sue Under the WVCCPA Because She is Not a 
"Consumer" Under both W.Va. Code §46A-I-I02 and W.Va. Code §46A-2-122. 

The WVCCPA sets forth two separate definitions of the term "consumer." The first 

definition of "consumer" is found in §46A -1-102, and this definition applies to the entirety of 

Chapter 46A, except for §46A-2-l22 to 129(a). The second definition of "consumer" is found in 

§46A-2-122. This definition is expressly limited to §46A-2-122 to 129(a). 

In this case, the Petitioner brought her lawsuit pursuant to §46A-5-101, which provides 

that, "[i]fa creditor has violated the provisions of this chapter applying to [certain conduct], the 

consumer has a cause of action to recover: (a) actual damages; and (b) a right in an action to 

recover from the person violating this chapter a [statutory penalty] ... " Thus, in order for the 

Petitioner to be able to bring her WVCCPA suit pursuant to §46A-5-101, she must be a 

"consumer" as defined in §46A -1-102. 

As the substantive basis of her WVCCPA suit, the Petitioner alleges that EOSCCA 

violated §46A-2-125, 127 and 128 while attempting to collect a debt. In order to allege 

substantive violations of these three (3) Sections, the Petitioner must be a "consumer" as defined 

in §46A-2-122. Since the Petitioner cannot meet either definition of "consumer," she lacks 

standing to pursue her WVCCP A suit. 

i. Petitioner is not a "consumer" as defined bv §46A-I-I02. 

In order to file a civil suit under §46A-5-101, the Petitioner must be "consumer" as 

defined in §46A-1-102(12). That section defines "consumer" as follows: 

"Consumer" means a natural person who incurs debt pursuant to a 
consumer credit sale or a consumer loan, or a debt or other obligation 
pursuant to a consumer lease. 
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Therefore, unless the individual incurred debt pursuant to a: I) consumer credit sale; 2) 

consumer loan; or 3) consumer lease, they are not a "consumer" per §46A-I-102(12). As such, 

that individual would not be able to file a civil suit as a "consumer" pursuant to §46A-5-1 0 1. 

A "consumer credit sale" is defined as the sale of goods, services or an interest in land 

which: I) credit is granted by a seller who regularly engages as a seller in credit transactions of 

the same kind or pursuant to a seller credit card; 2) the buyer is a person other than an 

organization; 3) the goods, services or interest in land are purchased primarily for personal, 

family, household or agricultural purpose; 4) either the debt is payable in installments or a sales 

finance charge is made; and 5) with respect to a sale of goods or services, the amount financed 

does not exceed forty-five thousand dollars. §46A-I-I02(13)(a). 

A "consumer lease" means a lease of goods: 1) which a lessor regularly engaged in the 

business of leasing makes to a person, other than an organization, who takes under the lease 

primarily for a personal, family, household or agricultural purpose; 2) the total payments under 

the lease do not exceed forty-five thousand dollars; and 3) the term of the lease exceeds four 

months. §46A-I-102(14)(a). 

Finally, a "consumer loan" is a loan made by a person regularly engaged in the business 

of making loans in which: I) the debtor is a person other than an organization; 2) the debt is 

incurred primarily for a personal, family, household or agricultural purpose; 3) either the debt is 

payable in installments or a loan finance charge is made; and 4) either the principal does not 

exceed forty-five thousand dollars or the debt is secured by an interest in land or a factory built 

home. §46A-I-102(15)(a)-(d). 

In her affidavit, Petitioner alleges that she owes a debt to "Bank of America, Home 

Depot, Suddenlink and several other corporations." (A.R. 000109). However, she offers no 
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other information about the amount or nature of the debt. More importantly, she has not offered 

any evidence that her alleged debt was incurred pursuant to a consumer credit sale, a consumer 

loan, or a consumer lease. There is no evidence that the debt was primarily for personal, family, 

household or agricultural purposes. There is no evidence that the alleged debt is less than forty

five thousand dollars. There is no evidence that the debt is payable in installments. Despite 

having the opportunity to do so, Petitioner simply offered Judge King no evidence that her debt 

was the result of a consumer credit sale, a consumer loan, or a consumer lease. As such, she 

failed to prove that she was a "consumer" as defined in §46A-I-102(12). 

ii. Petitioner is not a "consumer" as defined bv §46A-2-122. 

As the substantive basis of her WVCCPA suit, the Petitioner alleges that EOSCCA 

violated §46A-2-125, 127 and 128 while attempting to collect a debt. In order to allege 

substantive violations of these three (3) Sections, the Petitioner must be a "consumer" as defined 

in §46A-2-122. That section defines a consumer as, "any natural person obligated or allegedly 

obligated to pay any debt." W.Va. Code §46A-2-122(a). 

Several District Courts in West Virginia have interpreted the applicable definition of 

'consumer' in the WVCCPA and the meaning of the phrase 'allegedly obligated.' 3 In Ballard v. 

Bank ofAmerica, NA., the plaintiff was granted an interest in property secured by a Note and 

Deed of Trust and he made payments toward the same, but he did not assume the obligation. 

Ballard, No. 2:12-2496, 2013 WL 5963068, at *1 (S.D.W. Va. Nov 7, 2013). He subsequently 

alleged violation under the WVCCPA, including Article 2. Id. at *4. In ruling on Bank of 

America's motion for summary judgment based on the general definition of "consumer," the 

United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia concluded that the 

3 Of note, Petitioner fails to cite any case law interpreting the West Virginia Consumer Credit Protection Act, W. 
Va. Code § 46A-I-\ 0 \, et seq. in support of her Petition. 
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plaintiff "does not meet the general definition of consumer because ... he is not a party to the 

Note or Deed of Trust and has not incurred a debt pursuant to a loan with Bank of America." Id. 

at *9 (citing Arnold v. Palmer, 686 S.E.2d 725, 732 (W. Va. 2009)). In considering the 

plaintiffs Article 2 claims under the separate definition of "consumer," the Court considered 

whether the plaintiff was "allegedly obligated" to pay a debt and concluded that, because all 

communications were addressed to his mother's estate and the plaintiff had no other evidence 

that he was "allegedly obligated" on the Note or under the Deed of Trust just because he was 

granted an interest in the property. See generally, Id. 

Moreover, in McNeely, the United States District Court for the Southern District of West 

Virginia found that making mortgage payments pursuant to a marital obligation did not make a 

plaintiff "allegedly obligated" to pay a debt or a consumer under the WVCCP A. McNeely v. 

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 115 F.Supp.3d 779, 786. The plaintiff and his wife purchased a home 

using two secured mortgages, each governed by a Deed of Trust held by Wells Fargo. Id. at 782. 

Ms. McNeely, the plaintiffs wife, was listed as the borrower on both of the mortgages. Id. 

Following a divorce, the plaintiff was awarded the home and assumed responsibility for the 

mortgage payments. Id. Plaintiff subsequently attempted a loan modification through the 

Defendant, Nationstar. Id. After delay in obtaining a loan modification and for various other 

reasons, Plaintiff instituted suit against Nationstar pursuant to Article 2 of the WVCCPA. In 

finding that the plaintiff lacked standing as a "consumer" under Article 2, the District Court 

noted that the plaintiff offered no proof that he was obligated, allegedly or otherwise, by 

Nationstar to make mortgage payments on the home. Id. at 785. Indeed, the District Court noted 

that all evidence was to the contrary, specifically: (1) plaintiff did not sign and was not a party to 

either of the loans at issue; (2) plaintiff did not sign and was not a party to the loan modification 
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agreements entered into between his wife and Nationstar; (3) all correspondence from Nationstar 

about the loans was addressed to plaintiffs wife; and (4) the forms submitted in plaintiffs 

attempts to obtain a loan modification were required to be signed by the listed borrower, 

plaintiffs wife. !d. Importantly, the District Court noted that none of the evidence presented 

suggested that Nationstar treated plaintiff as if he were personally obligated under the loan 

agreements by, for instance, directly soliciting him for payment. Id. (emphasis added). 

Just as in Ballard and McNeely, Petitioner is not a consumer under either the general or 

separate Article 2 definition of the term. Petitioner has never been solicited for payment of the 

alleged debt and no act by Respondent has made Petitioner "allegedly obligated" to pay any debt. 

With regard to her relationship with Respondent, Petitioner testified at deposition that "I don't 

even know who EOS CCA whatever." (A.R. 000129). When asked why Petitioner sued 

Respondent, Petitioner testified "Well, I can't answer questions on that EOS CCA because I have 

no idea what it is." (A.R. 000129). Petitioner did receive telephone calls from collectors; 

however, Petitioner does not remember receiving any calls from Respondent and testified that 

she only remembered calls from "City and Bar.tk America Card." (A.R. 000130). Respondent 

performs no collection activities for Bank of America. (A.R. 000025) When Respondent 

attempts to collect on a debt, it does not cause "Bank ofAmerica," "Bank America Card," "Bank 

Americard" or any such similar moniker to be displayed on a caller identification device. (A.R. 

000025). In fact, Petitioner testified that she never talked to a representative of Respondent long 

enough to let the caller identify himself or herself, let alone attempt to solicit a payment from 

Petitioner. (A.R. 000132). If she had, Petitioner would have been informed that Respondent was 

attempting to reach a third party debtor. As the Circuit Court correctly found, there is no 
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evidence from which a jury could reasonably find that Respondent alleged the Petitioner owed a 

debt to it. (A.R.000120). 

iii. Petitioner is not a "consumer" under her supporting case law. 

Petitioner relies heavily on two federal cases in support of her position that she was 

"allegedly obligated" to pay a debt and, therefore, is a "consumer" under the WVCCPA. 

However, neither of the federal decisions relied upon by Petitioner interpret the WVCCP A; 

rather, the decisions involve the interpretation of the Fair Debt Collection Act ("FDCA"). In 

Dunham v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC, the Court of Appeals determined the plaintiff was 

"allegedly obligated" to pay the debt at issue when the defendant sent a form notification letter to 

the plaintiff in his name requesting that he pay the debt at issue. Dunham v. Portfolio Recovery 

Assocs., LLC, 663 F.3d 997, 1002 (8th Cir. 2011). In this case, Petitioner never owed a debt to 

EOSCCA and EOSCCA never solicited a payment from Petitioner on the debt at issue. Even 

under Dunham, the Petitioner would not be considered a "consumer." 

Petitioner's reliance on Rawlinson v. Law Office of William M Rudow, LLC, is also 

misplaced.4 In Rawlinson, the Court's decision focused on the enforcement clause of the 

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(a), which imposes liability "with respect to any person." Rawlinson 

v. Law Office of William M Rudow, LLC, 460 Fed.Appx. 254, 257 (4th Cir. 2012) (emphasis 

supplied). By contrast, the United States District Court for the Southern District of West 

Virginia has held "[a]s an initial matter,'the plain language of the WVCCPA and its legislative 

history make clear that a plaintiff must be a consumer to bring a private cause of action under the 

Act. See McNeely, 115 F.Supp.3d at 784; see also W. Va. Code § 46A-5-101(1). Petitioner does 

not meet the definition of consumer under either W. Va. Code §46A-1-102 or W. Va. Code 

4 Rawlinson v. Law Office of William M Rudow, LLC, 460 Fed. Appx. 254 is an unpublished Fourth Circuit 
Opinion. Unpublished opinions are non-binding precedent within the Fourth Circuit. 
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§46A-2-122(a) and the Circuit Court's determination that Petitioner lack standing as a 

"consumer" should be affirmed. 

C. 	 The Circuit Court Correctly Concluded that a Consumer Must Owe or Allegedly 
Owe the Debt at Issue. 

The Petitioner argues that a "consumer" does not have to owe the particular debt at issue 

in order to file suit under the WVCCPA. Petitioner's liberal reading of the phrase "any debt" is 

not only absurd, it ignores the express language of the WVCCPA. 

The Legislature restricted the language of the WVCCPA to apply to the particular debt at 

Issue. Petitioner's claims involve several provisions of Article 2, specifically: (1) W.Va. Code 

§46A-2-125; (2) W. Va. Code §46A-2-127; and (3) W. Va. Code §46A-2-128. (A.R. 000004

000005). Section 46A-2-125 provides that, "[n]o debt collector shall unreasonably oppress or 

abuse any person in connection with the collection of or attempt to collect any claim alleged to 

be due..." W. Va. Code §46A-2-125 (emphasis added). Section 46A-2-127 provides, "[n]o debt

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